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DECISION 


We conclude that the pharmacist license of Nicholas G. Igel is subject to discipline because Igel, as the pharmacist-in-charge (PIC), failed to secure a pharmacy’s compliance with recordkeeping requirements.  


Procedure


The Missouri Board of Pharmacy (Board) filed a complaint on September 18, 2002, seeking this Commission’s determination that Igel’s license is subject to discipline.


On December 6, 2002, the Board filed a motion for summary determination based on Igel’s failure to answer its request for admissions.  Igel requested that he be allowed time to retain an attorney and respond to the motion.  On February 3, 2003, we held a telephone conference and allowed Igel additional time to respond to the request for admissions.  


On March 4, 2003, the Board filed its second motion for summary determination, relying partly on affidavits and partly on Igel’s answers to the Board’s request for admissions.  Although we gave Igel until March 19, 2003, to file a response, he did not respond to the motion.  


Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.440(3)(B) provides that we may decide this case in any party’s favor without a hearing if any party establishes facts that (a) no party disputes and (b) entitle any party to a favorable decision.  

Findings of Fact

1. Igel holds the Board’s pharmacist License No. 41243.  

2. Igel was employed as a pharmacist and PIC at E.P. Evans Drugs in El Dorado Springs, Missouri, at all relevant times.

3. On April 25, 2002, the Board’s investigators conducted a routine inspection of the pharmacy.  During the inspection, the investigators discovered losses of approximately 16.2 gallons of Promethazine and Codeine syrup, a Schedule V controlled substance.  

4. After calculating the loss, the investigators requested that Igel submit to a urine sample, but he declined.  

5. The investigators then suspended their routine inspection and began a controlled substance audit covering the period April 1, 2001, through April 25, 2002.  

6. The audit revealed shortages of the following controlled substances:  

· 13.5 gallons of Promethazine and Codeine syrup, a Schedule V controlled substance

· 1,544 tablets of Alprazolam, a Schedule IV controlled substance

· 3,255 tablets of Hydrocodone/APAP, a Schedule III controlled substance

· 1,843 tablets of Diazepam, a Schedule IV controlled substance

· 2.25 pints of Hydrocodone/Guaifenesin liquid, a Schedule III controlled substance

Conclusions of Law


This Commission has jurisdiction over the Board’s complaint.  Section 621.045.
  The Board has the burden of proof. Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.090(2) provides:  

The responsibilities of a pharmacist-in-charge, at minimum, will include:  

*   *   *

(E) Assurance that all procedures of the pharmacy in the handling, dispensing and recordkeeping of controlled substances are in compliance with state and federal laws;

*   *   *

(U) Assure that the appropriate handling and disposal of controlled substances is done and verified through appropriate documentation and when necessary that controlled substances be disposed of through appropriate procedures involving the Missouri Board of Pharmacy or the Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs; 

*   *   *

(W) Assure full compliance with all state and federal drug laws and rules[.]

This Commission has previously concluded that an isolated violation of a state or federal drug law or rule by the PIC or persons under his or her supervision is not sufficient to prove that the PIC has breached the duty under this rule to assure full compliance.  Board of Pharmacy v. Levison, No. 94-1353 PH (Mo. Admin. Hearing Commission, Dec. 18, 1995).   However, a substantial pattern of violations by the PIC or employees will prove such a breach.  Id.  

I.  Violation of Drug Laws and Regulations


The Board asserts cause to discipline under § 338.055.2 for:  


(6) Violation of . . . any provision of this chapter, or of any lawful rule or regulation adopted pursuant to this chapter; 

*   *   *


(15) Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government[.]

The Board alleges that Igel was in violation of  21 U.S.C. § 827(a), which provides:  

(a) Inventory 

Except as provided by subsection (c) of this section—

*   *   *

(3) on and after May 1, 1971, every registrant under this subchapter manufacturing, distributing, or dispensing a controlled substance or substances shall maintain, on a current basis, a complete and accurate record of each such substance manufactured, received, sold, delivered, or otherwise disposed of by him, except that this paragraph shall not require the maintenance of a perpetual inventory.  

(Emphasis added).
  The Board also cites 21 CFR 1304.03(b), which provides:  

A registered individual practitioner is required to keep records, as described in § 1304.04, of controlled substances in Schedules II, III, IV, and V which are dispensed, other than by prescribing or administering in the lawful course of professional practice.  

21 U.S.C. § 802(21) defines “practitioner” to include any person licensed, registered, or otherwise permitted to dispense a controlled substance.  The Board asserts that Igel was in violation of 21 CFR 1304.21(a), which provides:  

Every registrant required to keep records pursuant to § 1304.03 shall maintain on a current basis a complete and accurate record of each such substance manufactured, imported, received, sold, delivered, exported, or otherwise disposed of by him/her, 

except that no registrant shall be required to maintain a perpetual inventory.  

(Emphasis added). 


The Board asserts that as the PIC, Igel was responsible for compliance with the drug laws and regulations.  Igel asserts that he was not the only person who had access to the pharmacy and that the records were accurate.  Although the Board does not specify in what manner the pharmacy’s records were erroneous, the audit revealed substantial shortages; thus, mass quantities of drugs were unaccounted for.  Therefore, the records of registrants for controlled substances sold, delivered, or dispensed must have been inaccurate, and there was a violation of the federal drug laws and regulations.  The violation is so substantial that Igel necessarily breached his duty as the PIC to assure compliance with the drug laws and regulations. 


Because Igel did not fulfill his responsibilities to ensure compliance with the drug laws and regulations, we conclude that his license is subject to discipline under § 338.055.2(6) for his violation of Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.090(2), and under § 338.055.2(15) for his violation of state and federal drug laws and regulations.   

II.  Section 338.055.2(5)


The Board asserts cause to discipline Igel’s license under § 338.055.2(5) for:  

Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by this chapter[.]

Incompetency is either a licensee's general lack of present ability, or lack of a disposition to use his otherwise sufficient present ability, to perform a given duty.  Missouri Bd. for Architects, Prof'l Eng'rs and Land Surveyors v. Duncan, No. AR-84-0239 at 116-17 (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm'n Nov. 15, 1985), aff'd, 744 S.W.2d 524 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988); Forbes v. Missouri Real Estate Comm'n, 798 S.W.2d 227, 230 (Mo. App., W.D. 1990).  Misconduct is "the willful doing 

of an act with a wrongful intention[.]"  Duncan, at 125.  Gross negligence is “an act or course of conduct which demonstrates a conscious indifference to a professional duty,” and that indifference constitutes "a gross deviation from the standard of care which a reasonable person would exercise in the situation.”  Duncan v. Missouri Bd. for Architects, Prof'l Eng'rs and Land Surveyors, 744 S.W.2d 524, 533 and n.6 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).


The massive quantities of shortages reveal that Igel failed in his duty as a PIC to assure the pharmacy’s compliance with regulatory requirements.  Therefore, we conclude that Igel lacked the ability or disposition to use his ability to perform his duty as the PIC, and his license is subject to discipline for incompetency.  Although the Board has not shown intentional wrongdoing in failing to fulfill recordkeeping requirements, the sizeable numbers of the shortages demonstrate a conscious indifference to a professional duty, and thus gross negligence.  


Fraud is "an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him."  State ex rel. Williams v. Purl, 128 S.W. 196 201 (Mo. banc 1910).  Misrepresentation is a falsehood or untruth made with the intent and purpose of deceit.  Missouri Dental Bd. v. Bailey, 731 S.W.2d 272, 274-75 (Mo. App., W.D. 1987).   Dishonesty is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.  MERRIAM-WEBSTER'S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 333 (10th ed. 1993).  Although the audit showed that the pharmacy’s records were inaccurate, the Board has not shown that Igel personally committed fraud, misrepresentation, or dishonesty as a practicing pharmacist or in his capacity as the PIC.
  

III.  Violation of Professional Trust or Confidence


The Board asserts cause to discipline under § 338.055.2(13) for his violation of professional trust or confidence.  A professional trust or confidence is engendered by a party's 

reliance on the special knowledge and skills evidenced by professional licensure.  Trieseler v. Helmbacher, 168 S.W.2d 1030, 1036 (Mo. 1943).  The reliance on a professional's special knowledge and skills creates a professional trust, not only between the professional and his clients, but also between the professional and his employer and colleagues.  State Bd. of Nursing v. Morris, No. BN-85-1498 at 11 (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm'n Jan. 4, 1988).  The PIC has a duty to ensure the pharmacy’s compliance with recordkeeping requirements, but Igel breached that duty.  Therefore, we find cause to discipline his license under § 338.055.2(13).  

Summary


We conclude that there is cause to discipline Igel’s license as the PIC under § 338.055.2(5) for incompetency and gross negligence, under § 338.055.2(6) for his violation of Regulation 

4 CSR 220-2.090(2), under § 338.055.2(13) for his violation of professional trust or confidence, and under § 338.055.2(15) for his violation of state and federal drug laws and regulations.  


We cancel the hearing.  


SO ORDERED on April 3, 2003.



________________________________



KAREN A. WINN



Commissioner

	�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.  





	�We presume that Igel and any other pharmacists at the pharmacy were registrants.  21 U.S.C. § 822(a)(2).  


	�The Board also asserted in its complaint that Igel refused to submit a urine sample upon request.  However, in its motion, the Board does not assert that Igel is subject to discipline on that basis.  
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